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‘The name Rock Valley Farm is eminently suitable for this stout
stone farmhouse that was constructed about 1812 on a knoll overlooking
rises, falls and folds along the Appalachian Plateau near the border
between West Virginia and Pennsylvania. Not only are large and small
blocks of roughly coursed sandstone laid well to form the dwelling,
gﬁt huge boulders and outcroppings nearby attest to strata underlying

Style was not an obvious consideration in the plan of Rock Valley
Farm. While it contains elements common to the era, this rectangular,
single-pile, center-hall structure of two stories plus basement with
a one-story ell is somewhat bulky and rather severe in design., Win-
dows on the second floor of the five-bay front are crowded against a
frieze board and cornice and the gable ends are without openings,

Yet the building is attractive in a solid way, with its large corner
stones reminiscent of quoins and its keystoned lintels on the first
floor ruggedly decorative. Perhaps most significance should be
attached to the method of construction, however, where an approxi-
mately four inch air pocket is located between separate and distinca
inner and outer walls of about eight inch thickness that sit atop a
solid foundation.

Both interior and exterior features are now representative of
evolutionary style changes of late nineteenth and early twentieth
centuries. Stone chimneys with drip courses retain original character
and return cornices are still at the gables, but windows are now 2/2
double-hung sash (probably 6/6 initially) and doors include glass '
panels. In addition, there is a one-story porch, with turned posts
and balusters and a lattice-work infill at basement level, across the
front (south) and along most of the west side. It is this porch and
the cornices that provide primary external relief features and combine
with the stonework itself to form what decorative elements there are
on the outside. ‘

While the interior has changed in types and styles of wall
‘coverings, ceiling materials and mantel designs to an extent, basic
outlines of the original remain. Wide-board flooring is still evident
throughout (except in the center hall); the pleasing character of an
open-well, two-run stair with well-proportioned balusters and rail has
been retained; and excellent (if simple) workmanship is noticeable in
walnut doors of presses or closets.

Major alterations have come about in the form of modernizations
and acretions of frame sections to the rear of the main stone house.
During late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, a second floor
was added above the old one-story kitchen area, a winding stair was
installed beside the large fireplace, and a double window was put
into a side wall. Access to the upstairs of the frame part is also
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available through a doorway from the stair landing of the main section.
Porches #hat had been built on the interior of the ell were enclosed at
various. times to form what are now a commodious dining room and kitchen
on the first floor with bathroom facilities above. Such changes have
‘allowed for provision of electricity, central heating and interior
plumbing in this century, but by using additions and adaptlng con-
struction features of the old stone house, fundamental integrity has
been assured.

Because it has been an operating farm for over 150 years, need
for numerous outbuildings and dependencies has been continuous. Al-
though the variety required in the nineteenth century has diminished,
Rock Valley Farm does retain a few early structures, including a
springhouse with workshop above, corncrib, washhouse and old barn.
The springhouse is built of sandstone and stands about 100 feet from
the southwest corner of the dwelling. The frame workshop atop it
has apparently been used for a long period for such things as repair-
ing farm machinery. Besides these outbuildings, the complex includes
a large modern barn and garage.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Although not noted for any special importance beyond its local
area, Rock Valley Farm, located in the hills of eastern Ohio County,
West Virginia, is nonetheless significant because it remains as a good
example of a substantial farmhouse erected by an early agriculturist
family which sought to provide some measure of a livelihood based upon
independence on the then sparsely populated Appalachian Plateau. O0f
equal, if not greater, importance is the construction technique used:
an insulating air pocket between separate interior and exterior walls.

James Stewart, descendant of a Scotch-Irish line, had moved to
western Pennsylvania during the latter part of the eighteenth century
and in 1790 purchased 400 acres of land in Ohio County, (West)
Virginia. It was this land that he and his family developed into a
productive farm in ensuing years, and it was on this property that he
and his son David built their fine stone dwelling around 1812. They
chose a well-drained site on a knoll overlooking cleared hills and
made use of nearby and readily available sandstone and timber. The
house took on an L-shaped appearance, with a full, solid-wall base-
ment beneath the two-story main section. Dual walls with an airspace
between were erected atop the foundation, forming two approximately
eight inch stone envelopes around a four inch thick gap that has since
served as an excellent insulator. Just why this technique was em-
ployed is not readily apparent today; no structures of similar design
have been identified in the vicinity (there are similarities here to
methods used in later cobblestone houses along the shores of Lake
Ontario in New York). Nevertheless, solidarity of stonework, trueness
of lines, practicality and continued usefulness attest to a soundness
in the decision to build in this manner.

David Stewart was a farmer of means, and by his death in the 1850s
he had left a mark on his community. Especially important was his role
in establishing a church in nearby West Union (Ballas), for not only
was he instrumental in obtaining land upon which the Presbyterian
Church was built, but he served it as a trustee and elder for many
years, was Sunday school superintendent and offered special bequests
and loans to ministers as sustenance. David was also an investor in
internal improvements; his will indicates he held stock in Hempfield
Railroad Company, a corporation that contemplated construction of a
line from the Baltimore and Ohio terminus at Wheeling to Greensburg,
Pennsylvania, and by 1871 it was completed to Washington, Pennsylvania,
and became the Hempfield Branch of the B&O.
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Shortly after the Civil War the farm passed from Stewart hands
to families named Henderson and Moss, finally being purchased at a
trustee's sale on the steps of Ohio County's courthouse in 1890 by
William Buchanan, a man whose descendants retain ownership today. I%
was Buchanan who undertook major repairs and renovations to dwelling
and outbuildings; he added a new slate roof, frame sections to the rear,
and front and side porches. General farming occupied much of Mr.
Buchanan's time, as well as that of Robert White, his son-in-law who
lived here after 1907 and whose wife later was deeded the property.
While concentrating on dairy farming for the local market, the family
grew wheat, corn, hay, oats and also raised hogs. Both Buchanan and
White wereileaders in community work, the former having been a founder
and director of what is now the First National Bank of Elm Grove and
the latter having participated in such activities as playing cornet in
the Dallas band and serving on election boards. Robert White was also
a director and treasurer of a local cemetery, long-time president of
the Ohio County Farm Bureau and soil conservation service, and a mem-
ber, for fifty years, of sessions of the Dallas Presbyterian Church.

Rock Valley Farm has also been a social center of sorts, hosting
numerous weddings and receptions from that of David Stewart's daughter
in the early nineteenth century to that of a daughter of Robert and
Clara White in the twentieth century. The house has been a focal
point of "modernization" in this area, too, for the first iron cooking
stove is said to have lured neighbors who were somewhat hesitant to go
near it, and before “"real" electricity was available in 1930, acetylene
lights were used and later replaced by a Delco battery system. Even
with the addition of such items that make living easier, the old
dwelling retains basic character and integrity instilled about 1812,

a character yet evident in wooden treenails of basement joists and the
patina of plumb sandstone walls.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION (continued):

direction to a fenceline approximately 150 feet east of the house,
northward along that line about 100 feet to a point north of the old
barn, then westward along the ridge line behind the corncrid to an
area approximately 50 feet west of that structure, and then southward
to a point about 20 feet west of the newer barn near the springhouse
(see accompanying map). Also included is the access road that runs
from the house about 3z mile to the Dallas Pike (County Route 43).
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